

# Television at Large in South Asia

SOUTH ASIAN HISTORY AND CULTURE

Edited by Aswin Punathambekar and Shanti Kumar

## **Television at Large in South Asia**

This book explores the empirical and theoretical significance of understanding television as a dynamic technology, a creative industry, and a vibrant cultural form that is 'at large' in South Asia. Bringing together prominent scholars who have shaped television studies in South Asia, as well as emerging scholars who address new topics, this book decisively positions television as a key site in the study of South Asian history and culture. In doing so, it also positions the study of television in South Asia and the South Asian diaspora as crucial in the rethinking of global television history, and opens up new directions for the future of television studies. This volume will be essential reading for scholars and teachers of media and communication studies, media history, anthropology, and sociology, besides being of great interest to policymakers and media professionals.

This book was originally published as a special issue of *South Asian History and Culture*.

Aswin Punathambekar is an Associate Professor in the Department of Communication Studies and faculty affiliate at the Center for South Asian Studies at the University of Michigan-Ann Arbor, USA. He is the author of *From Bombay to Bollywood: The Making of a Global Media Industry* (2013) and co-editor of *Global Bollywood* (2008).

**Shanti Kumar** is an Associate Professor in the Department of Radio-TV-Film and a faculty affiliate in the Department of Asian Studies, the Center for Asian-American Studies and the South Asia Institute at the University of Texas-Austin, USA. He is the author of *Gandhi Meets Primetime: Globalization and Nationalism in Indian Television* (2006) and co-editor of *Planet TV* (2003).

## South Asian History and Culture

David Washbrook – University of Cambridge, UK Boria Majumdar – University of Central Lancashire, UK Sharmistha Gooptu – South Asia Research Foundation, India Nalin Mehta – La Trobe University, Melbourne

This series offers a forum that will provide an integrated perspective on the field at large. It brings together research on South Asia in the humanities and social sciences, and provides scholars with a platform covering, but not restricted to, their particular fields of interest and specialization. Such an approach is critical to any expanding field of study, for the development of more informed and broader perspectives, and of more overarching theoretical conceptions.

The series achieves a multidisciplinary forum for the study of South Asia under the aegis of established disciplines (e.g. history, politics, gender studies) combined with more recent fields (e.g. sport studies, sexuality studies). A focus is also to make available to a broader readership new research on film, media, photography, medicine and the environment, which have to date remained more specialized fields within South Asian studies.

A significant concern for the series is to focus across the whole of the region known as South Asia, and not simply on India, as most 'South Asia' forums inevitably tend to do. We are most conscious of this gap in South Asian studies and work to bring into focus more scholarship on and from Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Nepal and other parts of South Asia.

## Health, Culture and Religion in South Asia

Critical Perspectives Edited by Assa Doron and Alex Broom

**Minority Nationalisms in South Asia** *Edited by Tanweer Fazal* 

#### **Gujarat Beyond Gandhi**

Identity, Society and Conflict Edited by Nalin Mehta and Mona Mehta

### South Asian Transnationalisms Cultural Exchange in the Twentieth Century Edited by Babli Sinha

### **Religious Cultures in Early Modern India** New Perspectives *Edited by Rosalind O'Hanlon and*

David Washbrook

## Gender and Masculinities New Perspectives

Edited by Assa Doron and Alex Broom

### Television At Large in South Asia

Edited by Aswin Punathambekar and Shanti Kumar

## **Television At Large in South Asia**

*Edited by* Aswin Punathambekar and Shanti Kumar



First published 2014 by Routledge 2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon, OX14 4RN, UK

and by Routledge 711 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10017, USA

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 2014 Taylor & Francis

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

*Trademark notice*: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 13: 978-0-415-72546-0

Typeset in Times New Roman by Taylor & Francis Books

#### **Publisher's Note**

The publisher accepts responsibility for any inconsistencies that may have arisen during the conversion of this book from journal articles to book chapters, namely the possible inclusion of journal terminology.

#### Disclaimer

Every effort has been made to contact copyright holders for their permission to reprint material in this book. The publishers would be grateful to hear from any copyright holder who is not here acknowledged and will undertake to rectify any errors or omissions in future editions of this book.

## Contents

	Citation Information Notes on Contributors	vii ix
	Introduction: Television at large Aswin Punathambekar and Shanti Kumar	1
1.	Changing with <i>The Times of India</i> (Bangalore): remaking a post-political media field <i>Sahana Udupa and Paula Chakravartty</i>	9
2.	At the limits of discourse: political talk in drag on Late Night Show with Begum Nawazish Ali Mobina Hashmi	29
3.	The fatal snare of proximity: live television, new media and the witnessing of Mumbai attacks <i>Sangeet Kumar</i>	50
4.	Mixed signals: MTV Desi, South Asian American audiences and the discourse of ethnic television <i>Madhavi Mallapragada</i>	67
5.	'The show of the millennium': screening the big-money quiz show and the Bollywood superstar Sreya Mitra	84
6.	Beyond television studies John Hutnyk	101
7.	Mapping India's television landscape: constitutive dimensions and emerging issues Kalyani Chadha and Anandam Kavoori	109
8.	Television and embodiment: a speculative essay Purnima Mankekar	121
9.	Ravana's airforce: a report on the state of Indian television Nalin Mehta	132
10	. Watching Barkha Dutt: turning on the news in television studies <i>Radhika Parameswaran</i>	144

## CONTENTS

11. A reflexive turn in television studies? Conjectures from South Asia	
Abhijit Roy	154
Index	167

## **Citation Information**

The chapters in this book were originally published in *South Asian History and Culture*, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012). When citing this material, please use the original page numbering for each article, as follows:

### Introduction

*Television at large* Aswin Punathambekar and Shanti Kumar *South Asian History and Culture*, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 483–490

#### Chapter 1

Changing with The Times of India (Bangalore): remaking a post-political media field Sahana Udupa and Paula Chakravartty South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 491–510

#### Chapter 2

At the limits of discourse: political talk in drag on Late Night Show with Begum Nawazish Ali Mobina Hashmi South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 511–531

#### Chapter 3

The fatal snare of proximity: live television, new media and the witnessing of Mumbai attacks Sangeet Kumar South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 532–548

### Chapter 4

Mixed signals: MTV Desi, South Asian American audiences and the discourse of ethnic television Madhavi Mallapragada South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 549–565

### Chapter 5

'The show of the millennium': screening the big-money quiz show and the Bollywood superstar Sreya Mitra South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 566–582

### Chapter 6

Beyond television studies John Hutnyk South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 583–590

## Chapter 7

Mapping India's television landscape: constitutive dimensions and emerging issues Kalyani Chadha and Anandam Kavoori South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 591–602

## Chapter 8

Television and embodiment: a speculative essay Purnima Mankekar South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 603–613

### Chapter 9

Ravana's airforce: a report on the state of Indian television Nalin Mehta South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 614–625

## Chapter 10

Watching Barkha Dutt: turning on the news in television studies Radhika Parameswaran South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 626–635

## Chapter 11

A reflexive turn in television studies? Conjectures from South Asia Abhijit Roy South Asian History and Culture, volume 3, issue 4 (October 2012) pp. 636–648

Please direct any queries you may have about the citations to clsuk.permissions@cengage.com

## **Notes on Contributors**

- Kalyani Chadha, Philip Merrill College of Journalism, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA
- Paula Chakravartty, Department of Communications, University of Massachusetts Amherst, Amherst, MA, USA
- Mobina Hashmi, Department of Television and Radio, Brooklyn College, New York, NY, USA
- John Hutnyk, Centre for Cultural Studies, Goldsmiths College, University of London, London, UK
- Anandam Kavoori, Grady College of Journalism and Mass Communication, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, USA
- Sangeet Kumar, Department of Communication, Denison University, Granville, OH, USA
- Shanti Kumar, Department of Radio-Television-Film, University of Texas-Austin, Austin, TX, USA
- Madhavi Mallapragada, Department of Radio-Television-Film, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA
- Purnima Mankekar, Department of Women's Studies, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, USA
- Nalin Mehta, Institute of South Asian Studies & Asia Research Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore
- Sreya Mitra, Department of Communication Arts, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- Radhika Parameswaran, School of Journalism, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN, USA
- Aswin Punathambekar, Department of Communications Studies, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA
- Abhijit Roy, Department of Film Studies, Jadavpur University, Calcutta, India
- Sahana Udupa, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Religious and Ethnic Diversity, Göttingen, Germany

This page intentionally left blank

### **Introduction: Television at large**

Aswin Punathambekar<sup>a</sup> and Shanti Kumar<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Communications Studies, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA; <sup>b</sup>Department of Radio-Television-Film, University of Texas-Austin, Austin, TX, USA

All the essays in this special issue deal with the theme *Television at large* in the political, economic, cultural, and technological contexts of contemporary South Asia. In different ways, each essay outlines the empirical and theoretical significance of understanding television as a dynamic technology, a creative industry, and a vibrant cultural form that is 'at large' in a dual sense.

In one sense, the phrase 'at large' refers to television as a technology that is not bounded by the traditional borders of the modern nation-state, or by the modernist dichotomies of the public and the private, the inside and the outside, the spiritual and the material, or the home and the world. In another sense, the phrase 'at large' refers to the ability of television as a cultural form to represent a whole range of ideas, ideals, ideologies, images, and imaginations across time and space. After all, television unlike most other media and cultural productions, can be seen and heard 24 hours a day, 7 days a week both within and beyond the boundaries of South Asia. Thus, television, it can be argued, represents – or ought to represent – the collective imaginations of its audiences in the same way as some political representatives are deemed to represent the collective will of the people 'at large' rather than representing some specific state or a department or a constituency (as in a 'minister at large' or an 'ambassador at large'). How then do we understand the new constellations of collective imaginations that are constantly represented (and re-presented) on South Asian television both within and beyond the traditional boundaries of South Asia?

In approaching this question, we take our cue in part from recent scholarship in Television Studies that has begun mapping and examining how television has evolved under the impact of various technological, institutional, political-economic, and cultural changes. One of the most influential formulations of television-in-transition has been 'television after TV', a phrase that Lynn Spigel and Jan Olsson deploy to explore a media landscape that is no longer defined by the 'technologies, industrial formations, government policies, and practices of looking that were associated with the medium in its classical public service and three-network age' in the United States.<sup>1</sup> Engaging primarily with television in the United States and Europe, the essays in Spigel and Olsson's influential anthology offer a wide-ranging account of an emerging 'after TV' world: new production practices, experiments with narrative and storytelling techniques, changing sponsorship models and franchising practices, media convergence and the expansion of spaces and modes of 'watching TV', new modes of imagining and mobilizing audiences, and so on.

If the concern is, broadly speaking, coming to terms with what constitutes 'TV' as an object of study in the post-broadcast era, there is no doubt that South Asia would be as

compelling a site as any. Indeed, many of the questions and concerns regarding television that have been elaborated with reference to developments in the United States and Western Europe are pertinent in the Indian, Pakistani, or Bangladeshi contexts as well. Over the past two decades, as state-control over television has given way to a media landscape marked by an ever-expanding range of mass-market and niche channels, with organizational structures that span the range from small-scale cable channel operators to transnational media conglomerates, programmes that are as deeply rooted in South Asian storytelling traditions as they are imitations and hybrids of formats that circulate globally, and viewing practices and cultures of participation that speak to the ways in which new platforms and infrastructures of communication (the mobile phone, most prominently) have transformed the 'television set', there is no doubt that television in South Asia is as thoroughly inter-medial and multi-scalar as anywhere else in the world. And to be sure, we are very well positioned to map and analyse this rapidly evolving media terrain. The scholarship on television in South Asia, even if it remains predominantly India-focused, constitutes a quite formidable body of work. Moving beyond developmentalist discourses, scholars from different disciplinary backgrounds have developed sophisticated accounts of television's role in reconfiguring postcolonial India's political terrain, how everyday viewing practices intersect with family lives and mediate notions of gender and sexuality, the reworking of cultural identities wrought by the establishment of influential transnational networks like Star TV and translocal networks like ZEE, Sun, and Eenadu during the 1990s, generic and programming innovations, changing cultures of news production, and so on.<sup>2</sup>

However, two problems remain. On the one hand, it is clear that television remains on the margins of South Asian studies, a site that continues to be defined by wellestablished disciplines (including history, anthropology, sociology, and political science) that are only now beginning to take media and the question of communication into account. On the other hand, the scholarship on television in South Asia continues to be neglected within Television Studies, a disciplinary formation that remains resolutely US-UK centric. It would not be an exaggeration to say that the theoretical insights derived from South Asian contexts do not get taken up in any sustained manner by scholars of television in Anglophone Western nations. Indeed, Dipesh Chakrabarty's trenchant observation regarding the marginal status of non-Western histories - 'only "Europe," the argument would appear to be, is *theoretically* knowable; all other histories are matters of empirical research that fleshes out a theoretical skeleton that is substantially "Europe" ' - is pertinent to Television Studies as well.<sup>3</sup> With the exception of one or two key anthologies such as Graeme Turner and Jinna Tay's Television Studies After TV: Understanding Television the Post-Broadcast Era and Michael Curtin and Hemant Shah's Reorienting Global Communication, the historical and spatial scope of 'television' that is taken into consideration remains exceedingly narrow and limited to primarily Western, Anglophone locations.

The challenge, then, is to develop ways to examine and theorize television in South Asia such that we are able to locate its production, circulation, and consumption within a global context, while retaining a keen awareness of how the particularities of the South Asian context open up opportunities to generate more nuanced, and in the process, more expansive accounts of television's impact on the world. Thus, our aim here is to move television from its status as a marginal object in studies of South Asian history and culture to the centre of analysis and, at the same time, position the study of television in South Asia and the South Asian diaspora as crucial for rethinking television history and opening up new directions for the future of Television Studies. It is with these twin goals in mind that we propose 'television at large' as a framework for approaching the study of television in South Asia.

#### Television and public culture in South Asia

Among the various theoretical frameworks that have been developed to describe transformations in South Asian public culture, and particularly where ongoing changes in media and communications are concerned, perhaps the most influential one has been Appadurai and Breckenridge's statement on public culture in India.<sup>4</sup> Arguing against notions of cultural homogenization and Americanization of 'local' cultures that adherents of the media/cultural imperialism school of thought held dear, as well as the stagist conceptions of history that modernization theory rested upon, Appadurai and Breckenridge proposed beginning with the assumption that 'modernity is today a global experience'.<sup>5</sup> Observing that most societies in the world brought their own, local experiences and understandings of modernity to bear on their encounters with Euro-American modernity, they declared: 'Modernity is now everywhere, it is simultaneously everywhere, and it is interactively everywhere.'6 Central to this reconceptualization of modernity is the concept of public culture, a term that moves past well-worn elite/popular distinctions and articulates 'the space between domestic life and the projects of the nation-state where different social groups constitute their identities by their experience of mass-mediated forms in relation to the practices of everyday life.'<sup>7</sup> As electronic media bring into our homes a variety of images, ideas, ideologies, and commodities from around the world, they provide the cultural resources for collective imaginations that work like strips of reality in the everyday lives of people. Thus, imagination, Appadurai and Breckenridge argue, 'has emerged as a new force in social life, largely as a result of the spread of electronic media, in the context of rapid flows of resources, images, and persons across national boundaries'.<sup>8</sup> As the territorially imagined communities of print-capitalism – such as the modern nationstate, the bourgeois public sphere, or the local neighbourhood – are transforming into the de-territorialized 'imagined worlds' of electronic capitalism, modern mass media like television are also rapidly de-territorializing in a complex constellation of digital and analog technologies, traditional arts, legacy media, and new social networks. Although modern nationalism and modern mass media may have emerged around the same time and place, their de-territorialization has been non-isomorphic, and the disjunctures and differences between and betwixt them have become the new staging ground for collective imagination and political action in modern societies around the world. As Appadurai and Breckenridge remind us, 'What is distinctive about any particular society is not the fact or extent of its modernity, but rather its distinctive debates *about* modernity, the historical and cultural trajectories that shape its appropriation of modernity, and the cultural sociology that determines who gets to play with modernity and what defines the rules of the game'.9

In a similar vein, we would argue that what is distinctive about television in South Asia is not so much the fact or the extent to which it is enmeshed in global circuits of production and circulation, but rather its distinctive role in shaping the terrain of public culture. As we explain below, it is television's re-mediation of the public/private distinction in the South Asian context that lies at the heart of our understanding of how television stages the modern in the postcolonial context in particular, and television's impact on the modern world in general.

Although the state-sponsored agenda of modernization through national broadcasting has been the dominant mode of defining the 'public' in South Asian media and cultures, the hegemony of national networks like Doordarshan in India, Pakistan Television (PTV), Bangladesh Television (BTV), and the Sri Lanka Rupavahini Corporation (SLRC) has always been contested by alternative models of public broadcasting such as community radio and television, and also by demands for political, cultural, and linguistic autonomy

at the provincial state and regional levels. Ironically enough, it is only after the privatization of television and the rise of regional language networks since the late 1980s and early 1990s that the televisual landscape in South Asia has been suffused with a variety of programming catering to a diversity of cultural interests that audiences could never have dreamt of in the heyday of state-sponsored public broadcasting networks. It is important, however, to recognize that there are public spaces of television culture in South Asia that are neither dominated by statist models of broadcasting nor driven by the market logics of private commercial entities.

Further, in the South Asian context, it can be argued that the private is not the binary opposite of the public but is in fact crucial to and constitutive of what we define as public culture in our societies. One only has to flip through a few television channels in South Asia to recognize how representations of traditionally private desires of sexuality and intimacy in soap operas, reality TV shows, and music programmes are literally turning the public/private divide inside out and creating hybrid spaces of culture that are neither public nor private in the Habermasian sense of the public sphere. As many postcolonial theorists have argued, the structural transformations of the public/private divide that Habermas approvingly delineates in his study of the emergence of the public sphere in the metropolitan capitals of Western Europe, did not evolve quite the same way in colonial India.<sup>10</sup> In the colonial world, the material domain of the 'public' was directly under the control of British colonizers, and thus Indian nationalists, religious leaders, and cultural reformers had little or no ability to structurally transform the public sphere in ways that Habermas maps out in the European context. In colonial India, the private realms of the home, the family, and other domestic relations thus became the sites where the nationalists struggled to delineate their visions of modern history, culture, and traditional reforms. In the South Asian context, then, the private sphere is not the structural opposite of the public sphere but is instead its most intimate locus where traditionally 'public' concerns of community, nationality, and solidarity are debated and resolved.

Given the historical intimacy of the public and private in colonial India, the place of television – considered the most public of media in the most private of spaces – has always been a very complex one in the postcolonial context. Surprisingly, this historically significant distinction between the evolution of public culture in colonial India and Western Europe is hardly ever seen as a crucial and constitutive difference in global histories of public broadcasting in Television Studies where the public/private divide is seen as a universal construct of (European) modernity that is equally applicable to all television industries and cultures around the world. However, what is even more surprising is how little academic attention has been paid to television in historical analyses of the relationship between the public and private in South Asian studies, given how pervasive television has been both in the traditionally private space of the home and in the public spaces of national discourse. The essays in this special issue seek to redress this dual gap in the academic literature on the place of television in South Asian Studies and the place of South Asia in Television Studies by rethinking the relationship between television and public culture, acknowledging the role that it plays in structurally transforming the intimate histories of the public and private in contemporary South Asia and the South Asian diaspora.

This collection is divided into two sections. The first section brings together five articles that address a range of media spaces, texts, genres, industry dynamics, and audience formations. Taken together, these articles focus on topics that have not received sustained scholarly attention so far – cultures of news production and circulation in India, television talk shows and political culture in Pakistan, the quiz show genre, and so on. While there are entire regions, countries, and of course, topics, and issues left unaddressed, we

hope that these articles do suggest new avenues of inquiry and present a starting point for further research. The second section is designed as a 'roundtable' in which scholars who have written extensively on television and other media forms in South Asia reflect on the state of television and Television Studies. Thus, in addition to identifying emerging topics of interest and concern, these essays also foreground theoretical and methodological shifts and adjustments that we need to make if we are to adequately grasp the manifold ways in which television is at large not just in South Asia but the world over.

The first two articles approach the question of television and its publics by focusing on the domain of news production and circulation. First, Paula Chakravarty and Sahana Udupa draw our attention to the culture(s) of news production in relation to the political role of the news media, particularly  $24 \times 7$  television news, after nearly two decades of economic liberalization in India. Their ethnographic study of the Times of India (Bangalore) newsroom, which charts both the changing relationship between news media production and the state as well as the dynamic relationship between the newspaper and the city's middle class, cosmopolitan 'public' that has emerged with the IT boom of the last two decades, helps situate the growing popularity of commercial television news within broader changes in the contemporary media field. Highlighting the ways in which media and political fields overlap in a city like Bangalore, their article analyses how differing conceptions of the 'public' that shape a news organization's management team as opposed to the journalists does over time lead to a news stories that are more variegated. The second article by Sangeet Kumar also grapples with the production and circulation of news but asks how publics cohere around 'live' television. In particular, Kumar focuses on live television coverage of the terrorist attacks that took place in November 2008 in Mumbai as a way to examine the changing structures and norms of television journalism and the notion of witnessing in the context of audience participation via social media networks. Examining this specific media event as a 'disaster marathon', the article moves us towards a more nuanced understanding of television news' claim of liveness. As Kumar argues, this particular instance 'underscores the paradox that the very immediacy that live television promises to its viewers by getting as close to the event as possible in order to close the 'veracity gap' is undermined' as a number of television journalists got caught up with unfolding events in ways that altered the trajectory of the event itself.

Mobina Hashmi's article is also concerned with a changing television and media landscape, but in relation to political talk in Pakistan. The liberalization of the television industry in Pakistan in the early 2000s led to the emergence of a range of new cable channels and the proliferation of news, talk, and commentary programmes. For arguably the first time, television in Pakistan served as a space for public discussion of sensitive political, social, and cultural issues. One of the unlikely stars of this new televisual environment was Ali Saleem who, as his female alter ego, 'Begum Nawazish', hosted a popular interview programme, Late Night Show with Begum Nawazish Ali, on Aaj TV from 2005 to 2007. As Hashmi explains, although the format of the Late Night Show stayed well within the conventions of a talk show, it was groundbreaking for its public performance of unconventional gender, sexual, and class roles. Saleem's gender bending was the most visible and publicized aspect of the show, but another important aspect of the show was its willingness to make public topics that had previously remained private, such as homosexuality, recreational drug use, and criticism of the army's role in Pakistani politics. Hashmi analyses this show to map the limits of socially and culturally acceptable discourses on politics, gender, and sexuality in Pakistani media and society as well as various formal and informal regulatory structures that shape television's emergence as an important and intimate space for public, political talk.

Sreya Mitra, concerned with television's role in mediating relations between everyday life and collective imaginations of national identity and culture, focuses on an enduring, yet largely neglected television genre – the quiz show. Mitra begins by tracing how *Kaun Banega Crorepati* (KBC) became such a cultural phenomenon in India over the past decade by examining its 'localization' and the creative ways in which the show's producers tapped into and reworked Amitabh Bachchan's star image. She goes on to argue that in contrast to the earlier model of educational quiz shows telecast on the state broadcasting network, Doordarshan, KBC did not merely celebrate the acquisition of knowledge, but rather awarded this display of acumen with monetary rewards, and thus, with its celebration of aspirational consumerism, served as a crucial site where the country's ongoing transition from a socialist ethos to consumerist ideals was mediated.

Madhavi Mallapragada's article takes the case of MTV-Desi, a niche channel targeting South Asian-American youth, as a starting point for a larger discussion about the relationship between television, new media, and South Asian-American audiences. It offers a critical perspective on the present interest in targeting a 'desi' audience through channels like MTV-Desi, American Desi, or ImaginAsian, all of which are in turn shaped by factors such as the efforts to cater to the media and cultural tastes of Asian Americans through internationalizing, multiculturalizing, and racializing the cable and satellite flows of television in the United States, the satellite invasion from India since the late 1990s, and multiple attempts over the years to use public access and international channel space to reach South Asian immigrants. Connecting the politics and discourses surrounding ethnic/immigrant markets and MTV with earlier and concurrent attempts to target South Asian-American audiences, this article explores how the successes, failures, and re-emergence of television networks/channels foreground the issues at stake in imagining the diverse community of South Asian-Americans as a television market organized along the cultural and financial logic of categories such as Asian-American youth, Asian immigrants, Indian émigrés, South Asian/Asian-American, and other racial minorities.

The 'roundtable' section of this collection opens with an essay by Anandam Kavoori and Kalyani Chadha, in which they chart the transition in Indian television from state-run Doordarshan's hegemony to a multi-channel universe that reflects the working through of forces of globalization as well as the mediating influence of a host of local factors. Offering an overview of this period of change, this essay uses the 'rhizome' as a metaphor for understanding the varied 'determinations, magnitudes, and dimensions' that characterize television in contemporary India. In a similar vein, Nalin Mehta's essay also maps the changing television landscape in India by drawing attention to a range of policy and business challenges. Beginning with an overview of changes in regulation concerning various aspects of the television industry, Mehta goes on to address two other issues that remain largely unaddressed in South Asian media scholarship – political control of regional networks and a narrowly defined ratings and advertising system that underpins the television industry's business model and content development practices.

The next two essays focus on two specific cases in Indian television as a way to outline new domains of inquiry and, at the same time, bring new theoretical frameworks to bear on the study of television. Radhika Parameswaran's essay focuses on Barkha Dutt, host of the India-based NDTV news talk show 'We the People', as a symbolic portal into the rise of television news celebrity culture in India's rapidly evolving television culture. The essay begins by tracing Dutt's emergence as a news reporter and talk show host in relation to the role played by television journalism in reconfiguring the political terrain, and then goes on to explore Dutt's celebrity status in relation to her gender and class positionality in the culture of television news. This case study of Barkha Dutt suggests that paying greater attention to ongoing changes in the journalism industry in India from a range of perspectives – star personalities, political economy, the talk show that claims to represent 'the people', and audiences – will revitalize and enrich the evolving trajectories of Television Studies. Following this, Purnima Mankekar examines lifestyle programming as a way to understand the role played by television in creating new aspirational subjects in contemporary India. Bringing an anthropological perspective to bear on the production and circulation of programmes on the NDTV Good Times channel, Mankekar's analysis moves beyond ideological interpellation, a problematic that has dominated Television Studies for well over three decades now. While retaining a focus on issues of power and ideology, this essay invites us to consider how we might acknowledge and analyse the 'non-ideological ways in which media move us, enrage us, drive us to tears, make us laugh uproariously, arouse us sexually, or seduce us into traveling through spaces and times distant from us'. Bringing recent theorizations of affect and embodiment to bear on lifestyle programming, Mankekar compels us to rethink our understanding of the relationship between television and audiences.

The final two essays step back from the specificities of this or that channel, genre, programme, or audience formation to reflect more broadly on the pasts and futures of Television Studies. John Hutnyk takes as his starting point the rapid proliferation of screens - television everywhere, so to speak - and asks how we might go beyond simply approaching television as woven into the fabric of culture, politics, and the economy everywhere. Pointing to the ways in which television, and to a certain extent, Television Studies, is caught up in a largely market-driven and neoliberal framework, Hutnyk challenges us to imagine 'television' differently and come up with other frameworks for understanding how television is in the world. Abhijit Roy also takes up the question of rethinking Television Studies, engaging with a broader debate sparked by Charlotte Brunsdon's comment: 'In some senses, television is too important to be left to television scholars; but at the same time, television scholars can show something of how we might understand this importance.'11 For Roy, this rethinking of Television Studies in relation to History raises a key question: what implications does such a 'shift in the academic aspiration of a discipline' hold for scholars studying non-Western contexts? Building on two major essays that grapple with the question of rethinking the universalizing assumptions in disciplinary formations – one by Dipesh Chakrabarty (History) and the other by Shanti Kumar (Global Television Studies) – Roy traces the 'necessary but impossible' nature of the strategy that both Chakrabarty and Kumar outline. Suggesting that the impossibility should be seen as posing a creative challenge and not restriction, the essay ends by asking: Can Television Studies as a whole smoothly inscribe itself into History? (original emphasis). Given the goal we have set ourselves in this special issue - to reposition television in South Asian studies and South Asia in Television Studies through the framework of 'Television At Large' - it seems appropriate to close with Roy's provocation for Television Studies at large.

#### Notes

- 1. Spigel, Television after TV, 2.
- 2. Rajagopal, Politics After Television; Mankekar, Screening Culture, Viewing Politics; Kumar, Gandhi Meets Primetime; Roy, "Television News and Democratic Change in India"; and Mehta, India on Television.
- 3. Chakrabarty, *Provincializing Europe*, 29. For a detailed consideration of the politics of knowledge production within the institutional site that has come to be designated 'TV studies'. Also see Shanti Kumar, 'Is There Anything Called Global Television Studies?'.

- 4. Appadurai and Breckenridge, 'Public Modernity in India'.
- 5. Ibid., 1.
- 6. Ibid., 2.
- 7. Ibid., 5.
- 8. Ibid., 14.
- 9. Ibid., 16.
- 10. See for instance, Chakrabarty, Provincializing Europe; Chatterjee, The Nation and Its Fragments; Mani, Contentious Traditions; Rajagopal, Indian Public Sphere.
- 11. Brunsdon, 'Is Television Studies History?'

#### References

- Appadurai, Arjun, and Carol Breckenridge. 'Public Modernity in India'. In Consuming Modernity: Public Culture in a South Asian World, ed. Carol Breckenridge, Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, 1995.
- Brunsdon, Charlotte. 'Is Television Studies History?' Cinema Journal 47, no. 3 (2008): 127-37.
- Chakrabarty, Dipesh. *Provincializing Europe: Postcolonial Thought and Historical Difference*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2000.
- Chatterjee, Partha. *The Nation and Its Fragments: Colonial and Postcolonial Histories*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1993.
- Curtin, Michael, and Hemant Shah. *Reorienting Global Communication: Indian and Chinese Media* beyond Borders. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 2010.
- Kumar, Shanti. Gandhi Meets Primetime: Globalization and Nationalism in Indian Television. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 2005.
- Kumar, Shanti. 'Is There Anything Called Global Television Studies?' In *Planet TV*, eds. Lisa Parks, and Shanti Kumar, 135–54. New York: New York University Press, 2002.
- Mani, Lata. Contentious Traditions: The Debate on Sati in Colonial India. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1998.
- Mankekar, Purnima. Screening Culture, Viewing Politics: An Ethnography of Television, Womanhood, and Nation in Postcolonial India. Durham: Duke University Press, 1999.
- Mehta, Nalin. India on Television. New York: Harper Collins, 2008.
- Rajagopal, Arvind. ed. *The Indian Public Sphere: Readings in Media History*. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Rajagopal, Arvind. Politics After Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Public in India. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- Roy, Srirupa. "Television News and Democratic Change in India". *Media, Culture and Society* 33, no. 5 (2011): 761–77.
- Spigel, Lynn, and Jan Olsson. *Television After TV: Essays on a Medium in Transition*. Durham: Duke University Press, 2004.
- Turner, Graeme, and Jinna Tay. *Television Studies After TV: Understanding Television in the Post-Broadcast Era*. New York: Routledge, 2009.

## Introduction: Television at large

Appadurai, Arjun , and Carol Breckenridge . 'Public Modernity in India'. In Consuming Modernity: Public Culture in a South Asian World, ed. Carol Breckenridge , Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, 1995.

Brunsdon, Charlotte . 'Is Television Studies History?' Cinema Journal 47, no. 3 (2008): 127–137. Chakrabarty, Dipesh . Provincializing Europe: Postcolonial Thought and Historical Difference. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2000.

Chatterjee, Partha . The Nation and Its Fragments: Colonial and Postcolonial Histories. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1993.

Curtin, Michael , and Hemant Shah . Reorienting Global Communication: Indian and Chinese Media beyond Borders. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 2010.

Kumar, Shanti . Gandhi Meets Primetime: Globalization and Nationalism in Indian Television. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 2005.

Kumar, Shanti . 'Is There Anything Called Global Television Studies?' In Planet TV, eds. Lisa Parks , and Shanti Kumar , 135–154. New York: New York University Press, 2002.

Mani, Lata . Contentious Traditions: The Debate on Sati in Colonial India. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1998.

Mankekar, Purnima . Screening Culture, Viewing Politics: An Ethnography of Television, Womanhood, and Nation in Postcolonial India. Durham: Duke University Press, 1999.

Mehta, Nalin . India on Television. New York: Harper Collins, 2008.

Rajagopal, Arvind . ed. The Indian Public Sphere: Readings in Media History. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2009.

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics After Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Public in India. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Roy, Srirupa . "Television News and Democratic Change in India". Media, Culture and Society 33, no. 5 (2011): 761–777.

Spigel, Lynn , and Jan Olsson . Television After TV: Essays on a Medium in Transition. Durham: Duke University Press, 2004.

Turner, Graeme , and Jinna Tay . Television Studies After TV: Understanding Television in the Post-Broadcast Era. New York: Routledge, 2009.

# Changing with The Times of India (Bangalore): remaking a post-political media field

Alhassan, Amin , and Paula Chakravartty . 'Global Media Policy under the Long Shadow of Empire'. In The Handbook of Global Media and Communication Policy, ed. Robin Mansell and Marc Raboy , 366–382. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell, 2011.

Appadurai, Arjun . 'Spectral Housing and Urban Cleansing: Notes on Millennial Mumbai'. Public Culture 12 (2000): 627–652.

Benjamin, Solomon , et al. 'Bhoomi: "E-Governance" or an Anti-Politics Machine Necessary to Globalize Bangalore'. A CASUM-m Working Paper, 2007. http://casumm.files.wordpress.com/2008/09/bhoomi-e-governance.pdf.

Benson, Rodney , ed. Bourdieu and the Journalistic Field. New York: Polity Press, 2005.

Bopaiah, Cavery , Hari Narayan , Carol Upadhya , and Sarah Joseph . 'Borrowing for Development: Karnataka State Highways Improvement Project'. Economic and Political Weekly 38 (2003): 426–429. Bourdieu, Pierre . 'The Mystery of Ministry: From Particular Wills to General Will'. In Pierre Bourdieu and Democratic Politics: The Mystery of Ministry, ed. Loic Wacquant , 55–63. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2005. Bourdieu, Pierre , and Loic Wacquant . 'Neoliberal Newspeak and the Planetary Vulgate'. Radical Philosophy 105 (2001): 2–5.

Chakravartty, Paula . 'Flexible Citizens and the Internet: The Global Politics of Local High-Tech Development in India'. Emergences: Journal for the Study of Media and Composite Cultures 11 (2001): 69–88. Chakravartty, Paula . 'Telecom, National Development and the Postcolonial State'. Media, Culture and Society 26 (2004): 227–249.

Chakravartty, Paula , and Dan Schiller . 'Neoliberal Newspeak and Digital Capitalism in Crisis'. International Journal of Communication 4 (2010): 670–692.

Champagne, Patrick . 'The "Double Dependency": The Journalistic Field between Politics and Markets'. In Bourdieu and the Journalistic Field, ed. Rodney Benson , 48–63. New York: Polity Press, 2005.

Chandrashekar, C.P. ICT in a Developing Country Context: The Indian Case. Background Paper for Human Development Report, New York: UNDP, 2000,

Chatteriee, Partha. The Politics of the Governed: Reflections on Popular Politics in the Rest of the World. New York: Columbia University Press, 2006.

Collier, Paul . The Bottom Billion: Why the Poorest Countries Are Failing and What Can Be Done About It. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Couldry, Nick . 'Media Meta-Capital: Extending the Range of Bourdieu's Field Theory'. Theory and Society 32 (2003): 653-677.

Dahlgren, Peter, Media and Political Engagement: Citizens, Communication and Democracy, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Deshpande, Satish . Contemporary India: A Sociological View. New Delhi: Viking, 2003.

Duval, Julien, 'Economic Journalism in France'. In Bourdieu and the Journalistic Field, ed. Rodney Benson and Eric Neveu, 135–155. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2005.

Fernandes, Leela . India's New Middle Class: Democratic Politics in an Era of Economic Reform. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, 2006.

Fernandes, Leela, and Patrick Heller. 'Hegemonic Aspirations: New Middle Class Politics and India's Democracy in Comparative Perspective'. Critical Asian Studies 38, no. 4 (2006): 495–522.

Ghosh, Asha, 'Public-Private or a Private Public? Promised Partnership of the Bangalore Agenda Task Force'. Economic and Political Weekly 40 (2005): 4914-4922.

Guha Thakurta, Paraniov, and Akshat Kaushal, 'Underbelly of the Great Indian Telecom Revolution'. Economic and Political Weekly XLV, no. 49 (2010): 49-55.

Hall, Stuart, et al. Policing the Crisis: Mugging the State and Law and Order. New York: Palgrave MacMillan, 1978.

Hallin, Daniel . We Keep America on Top of the World. London: Routledge, 1994.

Harriss, John, Power Matters; Essays on Institutions, Politics and Society in India, Delhi: Oxford University Press. 2006.

Hughes, Sallie . Newsrooms in Conflict: Journalism and the Democratisation of Mexico. Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press, 2006.

Hutnyk, John . The Rumour of Calcutta: Tourism, Charity and the Poverty of Representation. London: Zed, 1996.

Jafferlot, Chrisophe . India's Silent Revolution: The Rise of the Lower Castes in North India. London: Hurst and Company, 2003.

Jeffrey, Robin . India's Newspaper Revolution: Capitalism, Politics and the Indian Language Press 1977–99. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2000.

Kamath, Lalitha , and M. Vijaybhaskar . 'Limits and Possibilities of Middle Class Associations as Urban Collective Actors'. Economic and Political Weekly 44 (2009): 368-376.

Kohli-Khandekar, Vanita, The Indian Media Business, New Delhi: Response Books, 2006.

Kumar, P. Keseva, 'Media and Marginalization of Dalits', Untouchable Spring, 2010.

http://untouchablespring.blogspot.com/2010 03 01 archive.html.

Laclau, Ernesto . On Populist Reason. London: Verso, 2007.

Lovnd, Maxine, 'Politics without Television: The BSP and the Dalit Counter-Public Sphere'. In Television in India: Satellites, Politics and Cultural Change, ed. Nalin Mehta , 62-86. London: Routledge, 2008.

Lukose, Ritty, Liberalization's Children: Gender, Youth and Consumer Citizenship in Globalizing India. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2010.

Martin-Barbero, Jesus . Communication Culture and Hegemony: From the Media to Mediations. Thousand Oaks: Sage, 1993.

Mazzarella, William . Shoveling Smoke: Advertising and Globalization in Contemporary India. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2003.

Mehta, Nalin . 'India Talking: Politics, Democracy and News Television'. In Television in India: Satellites, Politics and Cultural Change, ed. Nalin Mehta, 32-61. London: Routledge, 2008.

Menon, Nivedita, and Aditya Nigam. Power and Contestation: India Since 1989 (Global History of the Present). New Delhi: Zed Press, 2007.

Mitchell, Timothy . 'The Work of Economics: How a Discipline Makes Its World'. European Journal of Sociology 46 (2006): 297-320.

Nair, Janake . The Promise of Metropolis: Bangalore's Twentieth Century. New York: Oxford University Press, 2005.

Ninan, Sevanti . Headlines from the Heartland: Reinventing the Hindi Public Sphere. New Delhi: Sage, 2007. Parameshwaran, Radhika . 'Moral Dilemmas of an Immoral Nation: Gender, Sexuality, and Journalism in Page 3', Image of the Journalist in Popular Culture 1 (2009): 70–104.

http://ijpc.org/journal/index.php/ijpcjournal/article/view/10/12.

Prahalad, C.K. Fortune at the Bottom of the Pyramid: Eradicating Poverty through Profits. Philadelphia, PA: Wharton School of Publishing, 2009.

Puri, Anjali . 'Our Paper Isn't for Editors, It's for People'. The Hoot, 2010.

http://www.thehoot.org/web/home/story.php?storyid=4910&pg=1&mod=1&sectionId=5 (accessed January 18, 2011 ).

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics after Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Indian Public. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Rao, Ursula . 'Empowerment through Local News Making: Studying the Media/Public Interface in India'. In The Anthropology of News and Journalism: Global Perspectives, ed. S. Elizabeth Bird , 100–115. Bloomington, IN: Indian University Press, 2010.

Ray, Raka , and Seemin Qayum . Cultures of Servitude: Modernity, Domesticity and Class in India. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press, 2009.

Roy, Srirupa . 'Television and Democratic Change in India'. Media, Culture and Society 33, no. 5 (2011): 761–777.

Sainath, Palagummi . Everybody Loves a Good Drought: The Human Face of Poverty. Delhi: Penguin, 1998. Schudson, Michael . 'The News Media as Political Institutions'. Annual Review of Political Science 5 (2002): 249–269.

Sharma, Vivek . 'The Times of India: Conscience Keeper of FMCG?' The Hoot, 2003.

http://www.thehoot.org/web/home/searchdetail.php?sid=722&bg=1.

Sitapati, Vinay . 'What Anna Hazare Movement and India's New Middle Class Say about Each Other'. Economic and Political Weekly XLVI, no. 30 (2011): 39–44.

Sonwalkar, Prasun . 'Murdochisation' of the Indian Press: From By-Line to Bottom Line'. Media, Culture and Society 24 (2002): 821–834.

Stahlberg, Per . Lucknow Daily: How a Hindi Newspaper Constructs Society. Stockholm: Stockholm Studies in Social Anthropology, 2002.

Thomas, Pradip . Political Economy of Communications in India. New Delhi: Sage, 2010.

Thussu, Daya . 'The Murdochization of News? The Case of Star TV'. Media, Culture and Society 29 (2007): 593.

Udupa, Sahana . News Media and Contention over "the Local" in Urban India'. American Ethnologist 39, no. 4 (2012, In Press).

Udupa, Sahana . 'Print Communalism: The Press and the Non-Brahmin Movement in Early Mysore,

1900–1930'. Contributions to Indian Sociology 44 (2010): 265–297.

Uniyal, B. N. 'In Search of a Dalit Journalist'. IMC India, 2003.

http://india.indymedia.org/en/2003/03/3510.shtml.

Upadhya, Carol . 'Imagining India: Software and the Ideology of Liberalisation'. South African Review of Sociology 40 (2009): 76–93.

Upadhya, Carol . 'A New Transnational Capitalist Class? Capital Flows, Business Networks and

Entrepreneurs in the Indian Software Industry'. Economic and Political Weekly 39 (2004): 5141–5151.

Upadhya, Carol and A.R. Vasavi . Work, Culture and Sociality in the Indian IT industry. Bangalore: NIAS and IDPAD, 2006.

Waisbord, Silvio . Watchdog Journalism in Latin America. New York: Columbia University Press, 2000.

## At the limits of discourse: political talk in drag on Late Night Show with Begum Nawazish Ali

Abbas, Hassan . Pakistan's Drift into Extremism: Allah, the Army, and America's War on Terror, New Delhi: Pentagon Press, 2005.

Abu-Lughod, Lila . Dramas of Nationhood: The Politics of Television in Egypt, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2005. See esp. chap. 5, 'Modern Subjects? Egyptian Melodrama and Postcolonial Difference'. Ahmad, Naseer . 'Leftovers of the Left Spring a New Party'. Dawn, November 13, 2008. http://www.dawn.com/2008/11/13/fea.html.

Ahmad, Shakeel . 'Cable Television Network (PEMRA)'. In Proceedings of the International Seminar on Policy Framework for Public Utilities Management: A Case of Pakistan, ed. Pervez Zamurrad Janjua , 146–147. Islamabad: International Institute of Islamic Economics, International Islamic University. 2008. Akhtar, Rai Shakil . Media, Religion and Politics in Pakistan, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000. Ali, Babar . 'Pakistan Television: The Zia-Junejo-Mullah Show'. Pakistan Progressive 8, no. 4 (1987): 55–60. Ali, Owais Aslam . 'Transition in Midst of Dramatic Change'. Nieman Reports 50, no. 3 (Fall 1996): 71. Althusser, Louis . Lenin and Philosophy and Other Essays, Trans. Ben Brewster . New York and London: Monthly Review Press, 1971. Asian Human Rights Commission . 'Pakistan: Show Cause Notices against Four Television Channels Must be Withdrawn'. June 8, 2011. http://www.humanrights.asia/news/ahrc-news/AHRC-STM-075-2011. 'Banned Begum Nawazish Show Back on Air'. The Press Trust of India, November 16, 2007, Nationwide International News.

Barker, Kim . 'Pakistan Drag Diva Bends Rules of Gender, Society'. Chicago Tribune, April 27, 2007. Barraclough, Steven . 'Television Invasion: Pakistani Television Politics in the 1990s: Responses to the Satellite'. International Communication Gazette 63, no. 2–3 (2001): 225–239.

*' Big Boss 4* Evicted Begum Wants to Have Tea with Bal Thackeray'. The India Daily, October 23, 2010. http://www.theindiadaily.com/big-boss-4-evicted-begum-wants-to-have-tea-with-bal-thackeray/.

Bilquees, Faiz . 'Performance of Regulatory Bodies'. In Proceedings of the International Seminar on Policy Framework for Public Utilities Management: A Case of Pakistan, ed. Pervez Zamurrad Janjua , 141–145. Islamabad: International Institute of Islamic Economics, International Islamic University, 2008.

Butler, Judith . Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. 1990. Reprint, New York and London: Routledge, 1999.

Capino, Jose . 'Soothsayers, Politicians, Lesbian Scribes: The Phillipine Movie Talk Show'. In Planet TV: A Global Television Reader, ed. Lisa Parks and Shanti Kumar , 262–274. New York: New York University Press, 2003.

Cohen, Stephen P. The Idea of Pakistan. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 2004.

'Drag Queen and Rally Driving Brother Push Boundaries on Pakistani TV', Agence France Presse, May 12, 2006.

'Electronic Media Urged to Promote Patriotism', Dawn, May 6, 2005.

http://www.dawn.com/2005/05/06/nat8.htm.

Fatah, Sonya . 'FM Mullahs'. Columbia Journalism Review (July/August 2006): 16–17.

Fatah, Sonya . 'Pakistan's Late-Night TV Queen'. The Globe and Mail, November 29, 2006, A3.

Fraser, Nancy . 'Rethinking the Public Sphere: A Contribution to Actually Existing Democracy'. In Habermas and the Public Sphere, ed. Craig Calhoun , 109–142. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1992.

Garnham, Nicholas . 'The Media and the Public Sphere'. In Habermas and the Public Sphere, ed. Craig Calhoun , 359–376. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 1992.

Ghias, Shoaib A. 'Miscarriage of Chief Justice: Judicial Power and the Legal Complex in Pakistan under Musharraf'. Law & Social Inquiry 35, no. 4 (2010): 985–1022.

Griffin, Douglas A., and Monroe E. Price. Review and Analysis of the Legal Framework Governing the Media in Pakistan. London: Stanhope Center for Communications Policy Research, 2004.

Habermas, Jurgen . The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere: An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society, Trans. Thomas Burger . Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1991.

Halliday, Fred , and Hamza Alavi . State and Ideology in the Middle East and Pakistan. New York: Monthly Review Press, 1988.

Hooper, Emma , and Agha Imran Hamid . Scoping Study on Social Exclusion in Pakistan: A Summary of Findings. Commissioned by the Western Asia Department, Department for International Development (DFID), United Kingdom, October 2003.

Husain, Ishrat . 'Economy of Pakistan: An Overview'. Keynote address, Expo 2005 Conference, Karachi, Pakistan, February 3, 2005.

http://ishrathusain.iba.edu.pk/speeches/economicManagementPolicies/Economy\_of\_Pakistan\_Expo\_2005.p df.

Hussain, Zahid . 'Ali Saleem: The Talking Game'. Newsweek (International Edition), January 22, 2007. Jahangir, Asma , and Hina Jilani . The Hudood Ordinances: A Divine Sanction? A Research Study of the Hudood Ordinances and their Effect on the Disadvantaged Sections of Pakistan Society. Lahore: Rhotas Books, 1990.

Javed, Mian Muhammad . 'Regulation, Competition, and Information'. The Pakistan Development Review 41, no. 4 (Winter 2002): 911–913.

Kamran, Tahir . Democracy and Governance in Pakistan. Lahore: South Asian Partnership-Pakistan, 2008. See esp. chap. 6, 'Bonapartism Re-Visited Musharraf Ruling the Roost (1999–2007)',

http://www.sappk.org/publications/eng\_publications/Democracy\_and\_Governance.pdf#page=162. Khan, Asghar , ed. Islam, Politics and the State: The Pakistan Experience, London: Zed Books, 1985. Kothari, Shuchi . 'From Genre to *Zanaana:* Urdu Television Drama Serials and Women's Culture in Pakistan'. Contemporary South Asia 14, no. 3 (2005): 289–305.

Kraidy, Marwan M., and Joe F. Khalil . Arab Television Industries. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009. Kumar, Ashok , Yasser Noman , and Seema Pervez . Representing the Unrepresented: Portrayal of Women in Pakistan Television Programs. Islamabad: UNDP, 1998.

Livingstone, Sonia , and Peter Lunt . Talk on Television: Audience Participation and Public Debate. London and New York: Routledge, 1994.

Mahsud, Muhammad Nawz , Noman Yaser , and Ishtiaq Ahmad Chaudhry . 'Geo TV vs Star Plus Dramas and Female Viewers' Perceptions'. European Journal of Scientific Research 19, no. 2 (2008): 336–349. Masood, Salman . 'When She Speaks, He's Breaking All of Islam's Taboos'. New York Times, January 3, 2007, Section A.

McGuigan, Jim . Culture and Public Sphere. London and New York: Routledge, 1996.

Mufti, Shahan . 'Musharraf's Monster'. Columbia Journalism Review (2007): 46–51.

Mumtaz, Hajrah . 'Build, Rather than Ban'. Dawn, August 30, 2009.

Mustafa, Daanish . '(Anti)Social Capital in the Production of an (Un)Civil Society in Pakistan'. Geographical Review 95, no. 3 (July 2005): 328–347.

Nadadur, Ramanujan . 'Self-Censorship in the Pakistani Print Media'. South Asian Survey 14 (2007): 45–63. Nadvi, Khalid , and Mark Robinson . Pakistan Drivers of Change: Synthesis and Policy Implications, Commissioned by the Western Asia Department, Department for International Development (DFID), United

Kingdom, 2004.

Naseem, Syed M. 'Political Economy of Structural Reforms in Pakistan'. Paper presented at the NCAER/EABER Conference on the Microeconomic Foundations of Economic Policy Performance in Asia, New Delhi, India, April 2–3, 2008.

Nasr, Vali . Forces of Fortune: The Rise of the New Muslim Middle Class and What it Will Mean for Our World, New York: Free Press, 2009.

Nasrullah, Nusrat . 'Aaj TV Turns 3'. Business Recorder (March 29, 2008).

Ovais, Siddiqua . 'Representation of Pakistani Women in the Media: Does Presence Mean Power?'. In Commercializing Women: Images of Asian Women in the Media, ed. Katherine Frith and Kavita Karan , 143–164. Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press, 2008.

Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority . 'Code of Conduct for Media Broadcasters/Cable TV Operators'. December 2009, http://www.pemra.gov.pk/images/docs/legislation/Code\_of\_Conduct.pdf. Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority . 'Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority Ordinance 2002 as Amended by the Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority (Amendment) Act, 2007 (Act No. II of 2007), an Ordinance to regulate electronic media in Pakistan'.

http://www.pemra.gov.pk/legislations/Ordinance\_2002.pdf.

Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority . 'PEMRA (Third Amendment) Ordinance 2007'. November 3, 2007. http://www.pemra.gov.pk/legislations/Ordinance\_2007.pdf.

'Pak's Most Popular Chat Show to Go Off Air From July'. The Press Trust of India, June 16, 2007. Saeed, Saqib , Markus Rohde , and Volker Wulf . 'ICTs, an Alternative Sphere for Social Movements in Pakistan-A Research Framework'. Paper presented at IADIS international conference on E-Society, Algarve, Portugal, April 9–12, 2008. http://www.uni-siegen.de/fb5/wirtschaftsinformatik/paper/2008/saeed-rohdewulf-ict-2008.pdf.

Shaikh, Riaz Ahmed . 'Politics in Pakistan: Parvaiz Musharaf's Military Rule In Perspective'. International Journal of South Asian Studies 3, no. 1 (2010): 11–22.

http://qbase.co.in/pu/sites/default/files/ijsas13082010.pdf#page=15.

Shattuc, Jane . The Talking Cure: Television Talk Shows and Women. London and New York: Routledge, 1997.

Siddiqa, Ayesha . Military Inc.: Inside Pakistan's Military Economy. London and Ann Arbor, MI: Pluto Press, 2007.

Wahab, Gul. 'Social Consequences of Expanding Media Market in Pakistan'. In Proceedings of the International Seminar on Policy Framework for Public Utilities Management: A Case of Pakistan, ed. Pervez Zamurrad Janjua, 122–132. Islamabad: International Institute of Islamic Economics, International Islamic University. 2008.

Wallace, Bruce . 'The Sassy Voice and Face of Pakistan'. Los Angeles Times, January 22, 2008, A1. Weiss, Anita M. , and S. Zulfiqar Gilani , ed. Power and Civil Society in Pakistan. New York: Oxford University Press, 2001.

Wilkinson, Isambard . 'How Pakistan's "Dame Edna" Has Upset Musharraf'. The Daily Telegraph, April 22, 2006.

# The fatal snare of proximity: live television, new media and the witnessing of Mumbai attacks

Baudrillard, J. The Spirit of Terrorism and Other Essays. London: Verso, 2002. Brenner, Marie . 'Anatomy of a Siege'. Vanity Fair, November 2009. Chaudhury, Shoma . 'Is Kali a Wimp?' Tehelka, December 13, 2008. www.tehelka.com. Choudhury, Sunetra . 'New Agency to Monitor Media's Terror Coverage'. NDTV, June 27, 2009.

D Zore, Prasanna . 'After Bullets, Media Terrorises Jadhav'. Rediff, December 2, 2008.

Datta, Pronoti . 'Blow-by-Blow Breaking News Breaks Viewer Patience'. The Times of India, December 3, 2008.

Dayan, Daniel , and Elihu Katz . Media Events: The Live Broadcasting of History. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1992.

'Deadly Confusion'. The Indian Express, November 29, 2008.

Deshpande, Anjali , and S.K. Pande . 'Three Days of Mumbai Terror Reporting'. The Hoot, 2008. www.thehoot.org.

Dutt, Barkha . 'On the Record: Mumbai and Media Coverage'. NDTV, 2010.

http://www.ndtv.com/convergence/ndtv/mumbaiterrorstrike/Story.aspx?ID=COLEN20080075194&type=opini on.

India Abroad New Service . 'News Channels Make It a Rule'. http://IBNlive.com, December 18, 2008.

India TV . 'Terrorists Ring Up India TV Twice during Siege Using Hostages' Cellphones'. Business Wire India, November 27, 2008.

lyer, Anita . 'Musicians, Citizens Join Vishal Dadlani's Petition'. http://RadioandMusic.com, December 4, 2008.

Jayaram, Rahul . 'Angst on Air'. The Telegraph, December 7, 2008.

Joshua, Anita . 'Panel Seeks Curbs on Media'. The Hindu, December 13, 2008.

Katz, Elihu , and Tamar Liebes . "No More Peace!": How Disaster, Terror and War have Upstaged Media Events'. International Journal of Communication 1 (2007): 157–166.

Kesavan, Mukul . 'We the People – The Mumbai Tragedy and the English Language News Media'. The Telegraph, December 4, 2008.

Khullar, Mridu . 'In India, English-Language TV Stations Face Criticism and Ire for Their Coverage of Mumbai Attacks'. Women's International Perspective, December 11, 2008.

Liebes, Tamar . 'Television's Disaster Marathons: A Danger for Democratic Processes?' In Media, Ritual and Identity, ed. Tamar Liebes , James Curran , and Elihu Katz , 71–86. London: Routledge, 1998.

Lindley, David . Uncertainty: Einstein, Heisenberg, Bohr and the Struggle for the Soul of Science. New York: Anchor Books, 2008.

Majumdar, Diptosh . Personal Conversation, February 2011.

Marriott, Stephanie . Live Television: Time, Space and the Broadcast Event. London: Sage Publications, 2007.

McEllroy, Damien . 'Mumbai Attacks: Terrorists Monitored British Websites Using Blackberry Phones'. Telegraph, November 28, 2008.

Nacos, Brigitte L. 'Terrorism as Breaking News: Attack on American'. Political Science Quarterly 118, no. 1 (2003): 23–52.

Nossek, Hillel . "News Media"-Media Events: Terrorist Acts as Media Events'. Communications: The European Journal of Communication Research 33 (2008): 313–330.

Pepper, Daniel . 'Indians Condemn Media Coverage of Mumbai Attacks'. Christian Science Monitor, December 23, 2008.

Peters, John Durham . 'An Afterword: Torchlight Red on Sweaty Faces'. In Media Witnessing: Testimony in the Age of Mass Communication, ed. Paul Frosh and Amit Pinchevski , 42–48. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009.

Peters, John Durham . 'Witnessing'. Media, Culture and Society 23 (2001): 707–723.

Pollack, Michael . 'Heroes at the Taj'. http://Forbes.com, December 1, 2008.

Press Trust of India . 'Don't Give Undue Coverage to Terrorists: Govt. to TV Channels'. The Times of India, February 24, 2010.

Press Trust of India . 'Media May Be Restricted from Live Coverage in Emergency'. http://IBNlive.com, December 3, 2008.

Press Trust of India . 'Terror Coverage: Parliamentary Panel Wants Regulations for Media'. The Times of India, December 12, 2008.

Rabasa, Angel , et al. The Lessons of Mumbai. Arlington, VA: RAND Corporation, 2009.

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics after Television. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997.

Rao, Raghavendra . 'Its Official, NSG Says Media Got in the Way, Wants Guidelines'. The Indian Express, December 6, 2008.

Rentschler, Carrie A. 'Witnessing: US Citizenship and the Vicarious Experience of Suffering'. Media, Culture and Society 26, no. 2 (2004): 296–304.

Romarheim, A.G. 'A Theory of Televised Hostage Takings'. In The Media: The Terrorists' Battlefield, ed. Center of Excellence – Defence Against Terrorism, 43–61. Amsterdam: IOS Press, 2007. Roy, R. 'Mumbai Was Not Our 9/11'. The Guardian, December 12, 2008.

Sanghvi, Vir . 'The Medium Is the Mess'. Hindustan Times, December 13, 2008. Sankaran, Gnani . 'Hotel Taj: Icon of Whose India?' The Hoot, 2008. www.thehoot.org. Sankaran, Gnani . 'Hotel Taj: Icon of Whose India?' Open Space, December 16, 2008. www.openspace.org.in.

Scannell, Paddy . 'What Reality Has Misfortune?' Media, Culture and Society 26, no. 4 (2004): 573–584. Secrets of the Dead: Mumbai Massacre . Directed by Victoria Midwinter Pitt . PBS, 2009.

Venkatesan, J. 'CJI Attacks Media Coverage of Terror Attacks'. The Hindu, December 14, 2008. Weimann, Gabriel . 'Media Events: The Case of International Terrorism'. Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media 31, no. 1 (1987): 21–39.

## Mixed signals: MTV Desi, South Asian American audiences and the discourse of ethnic television

Balaji, Murali . 'Bollyville, USA: The Commodification of the Other and MTV's Construction of the "Ideal" type Desi'. Democratic Communiqué 22, no. 1 (Spring 2008): 22–40.

Chang, Momo . 'Here's your MTV'. Hyphen Magazine, Summer 2006, no. 9: 10.

http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=1492641621&sid=1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Cottle, Simon . 'Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Making Ethnic Minority Television'. In Ethnic Minorities and the Media, ed. Simon Cottle , 100–107. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2000.

Daswani, Mansha . 'MTV World's Nusrat Durrani'. http://tvcanada.ws/articles/display/4468 (accessed August 31, 2012 ).

Garmer, Amy . UnMassing America: Ethnic Media and the New Advertising Marketplace. Washington, DC: The Aspen Institute, 2006.

Gray, Herman . 'Black Representations in the Post Network, Post Civil Rights World of Global Media'. In Ethnic Minorities and the Media, ed. Simon Cottle , 118–129. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2000. Gray, Herman . Watching Race: Television and the Struggle for 'Blackness'. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1995.

Hamamoto, Darrell Y. Monitored Peril: Asian Americans and the Politics of TV Representation. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1994.

Husband, Charles . 'Media and the Public Sphere in Multi-Ethnic Societies'. In Ethnic Minorities and the Media, ed. Simon Cottle , 199–214. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2000.

Jang, Daniel Y. 'How MTV and Other Corporations Are Challenging Asian America: An Examination of the Business Perspective on Asian American Identity', Asian American Policy Review 15, no. 49–56 (2006): 50–51. Accessed through EBSCOhost Research Database (accessed January 25, 2010).

Kiviat, Barbara, 'Chasing Desi Dollars', Time, July 6, 2005, Bonus Section: Inside Business.

http://www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,1079504,00.html (accessed January 8, 2010 ).

Lowe, Lisa . Immigrant Acts. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1996.

Mitra Kalita, S. 'TV Networks Try to Attract Asians and All their Niches'. The Washington Post, May 15, 2005, A01. Accessed through Lexis Nexis Academic Database (accessed January 10, 2010).

Mueller, Barbara . Communicating with the Multicultural Consumer: Theoretical and Practical Perspectives. New York: Peter Lang, 2008.

Ouellette, Dan . 'South Asians' Growing American Clout'. http://Adweek.com, May 12, 2008. Accessed through Lexis Nexis Academic Database (accessed January 10, 2010 ).

Picture. 'MTV World: Narrows its Geography'. Asian Week, March 9–15, 2007, vol. 3, no. 29: 5. http://proquest.umi.com/pgdweb?did=1254622131&sid=-

1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Potts, M.W. 'American Desi Network Launched in So. Cal'. India-West, January 28, 2005, vol. 30, no. 13: C6. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=805550961&sid=-

1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

PR Newswire . 'MTV World Set to Launch in US on Direct TV'. PR Newswire, 2008.

http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/mtv-world-set-to-launch-in-us-on-directv-54543362.html (accessed July 3, 2010 ).

Project Race. http://www.projectrace.com/statefederalcensus/census/ (accessed May 15, 2010). Punathambekar, Aswin . 'What Brown Cannot Do For You: MTV-Desi, Diasporic Youth Culture, and the Limits of Television'. Flow 10.2, June 27, 2009, vol. 10. http://flowtv.org/2009/06/what-brown-cannot-do-foryou-mtv-desi-diasporic-youth-culture-and-the-limits-of-televisionaswin-punathambekarthe-university-ofmichigan/ (accessed August 5, 2010). Reeves, Terrance J. , and Claudette E. Bennett . 'We the People: Asians in the United States, Census 2000 Special Reports', December 2004, Censr-17. http://www.census.gov/prod/2004pubs/censr-17.pdf (accessed February 11, 2010 ).

Ruiz, Rebecca . 'Desi Media's Next Generation'. Hyphen Magazine, Summer 2007, no. 12: 10. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=1493111401&sid=1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Siliconeer . 'Here Comes Star! A Gift From DirecTV', A Siliconeer Report, December 2004.

http://www.siliconeer.com/past\_issues/2004/december2004.html (accessed May 2, 2010 ).

Sontag, Deborah . 'I want my Hyphenated-Identity MTV'. New York Times, June 19, 2005. Accessed through Lexis Nexis Academic Database (accessed January 10, 2010 ).

Stam, Robert , and Ella Shohat . 'Contested Histories: Eurocentrism, Multiculturalism and the Media'. In Multiculturalism: A Reader, ed. David Theo Goldberg , 296–324. Cambridge: Blackwell, 1994.

Tsering, Lisa . 'Comast to Shut Down Asian-themed AZN Network'. India-West, February 1, 2008, vol. 33, no. 9: C30. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=1432956251&sid=-

1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Tsering, Lisa . 'MTV Desi Channel to Launch', India-West, December 17, 2004, vol. 30, no. 7: A1. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=791108381&sid=-1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Tsering, Lisa . 'South Asians Rally to Get MTV World Back on the Air'. India-West, March 23, 2007, vol. 32, no. 18: B1. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=1254378991&sid=-

1&Fmt=3&clientId=48776&RQT=309&VName=PQD (accessed January 19, 2010).

Yang, Jeff . 'Asian Pop Channeling Asian America: Six New 24-Hour TV Channels Go After the Hearts, Minds, and Eyeballs of English-Speaking Asians in the US'. San Francisco Chronicle, February 2, 2005. http://www.sfgate.com/entertainment/article/ASIAN-POP-Channeling-Asian-America-Six-new-2734108.php (accessed August 31, 2012).

# 'The show of the millennium': screening the big-money quiz show and the Bollywood superstar

Adesara, Hetal . 'Max, *Lola Kutty, KBC 2 ...* and the Creators Describe How They Did It'. http://Indiantelevision.com, February 11, 2006.

Aiyar, V. Shankar . 'This is Not about Money'. Interview of Peter Mukerjea. India Today, July 17, 2000. Aiyar, V. Shankar and Anupama Chopra . 'Great Gamble'. India Today, July 17, 2000.

Aiyar, V. Shankar and Anupama Chopra . 'It's Really Frightening'. Interview of Amitabh Bachchan. India Today, July 17, 2000.

Akhtar, Shameem and Manu Joseph . 'The Great Gambler: Star Plus is Spending Crores to Make Moneybags Out of Us Indians. But Will "Kaun Banega Crorepati" Deliver for the Channel or Amitabh?' Outlook, July 17, 2000.

Akhtar, Shameem , Sutapa Mukherjee, and Charubala Annuncio. 'The Zero Sum Game: He May Lack the Charisma of Amitabh, but Kher Hopes His Bald Charm Will See Zee's Show Through'. Outlook, October 30, 2000.

Bachchan, Amitabh . 'God in First Person'. Outlook, August 13, 2001.

Becker, Christine . It's the Pictures That Got Smaller: Hollywood Film Stars on 1950s Television. Middleton, CT: Wesleyan University Press, 2008.

Bennett, James . 'The Television Personality System: Televisual Stardom Revisited after Film Theory'. Screen 49, no. 1 (Spring 2008): 32–44.

Bhatia, Gauri . 'Bringing the Roof Down: It's Early Days, but the Govinda Version of the Game Show Could Be Sony's Answer to KBC'. Outlook, February 12, 2001.

Boddy, William . 'The Quiz Show (*Who Wants to Be a Millionaire?*)'. In The Television Genre Book, ed. Glen Creeber , Toby Miller , and John Tulloch , 79–81. London: British Film Institute, 2001.

Chakravarty, Sumita S. National Identity in Indian Popular Cinema, 1947–1987. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press, 1993.

Ellis, John . Visible Fictions. Boston, MA: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1982.

Fernandes, Leela . India's New Middle Class: Democratic Politics in an Era of Economic Reforms. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, 2006.

Fiske, John . 'Quizzical Pleasures'. In Television Culture, ed. John Fiske , 265–280. London: Routledge, 1987.

Gehlot, Deepa . 'The Stars Call the Shots'. In Frames of Mind: Reflections on Indian Cinema, ed. Aruna Vasudev , 229–240. New Delhi: UBS Publishers, 1995.

Ghosh, Shekhar and Shantanu Guha Ray . 'From Big B to IOU: The Slide from Dream Project to Basket Case Is Complete. Creditors Are Now after Bachchan's Juhu Bungalow and Other Property, as ABCL Ducks under the Bankruptcy Law'. Outlook, April 26, 1999.

'Here Comes the Hotstepper – *KBC 2*'. http://Indiantelevision.com. August 4, 2005.

Hoerschelmann, Olaf . Rules of the Game: Quiz Shows and American Culture. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 2006.

'An Increasingly Affluent Middle India Is Harder to Ignore'. India Knowledge@Wharton. http://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/india/article.cfm?articleid=4303.

Jermyn, Deborah . 'Bringing Out the Star in You: SJP, Carrie Bradshaw, and the Evolution of Television Stardom'. In Framing Celebrity: New Directions in Celebrity Culture, ed. Sean Redmond and Su Holmes , 67–86. London: Routledge, 2006.

Joshi, Namrata . 'Cash and Carnations: It's Govinda's Antics versus Amitabh's Charm. Over to the Battle'. Outlook, January 29, 2001.

Kazmi, Fareed . The Politics of India's Conventional Cinema: Imaging a Universe, Subverting a Multiverse. New Delhi: Sage Publications, 1999.

Kazmi, Fareed uddin. 'How Angry Is the Angry Young Man? "Rebellion" in Conventional Hindi Films'. In The Secret Politics of Our Desires: Innocence, Culpability and Popular Indian Cinema, ed. Ashis Nandy, 137–160. Delhi; New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.

'KBC-4 on Sony to See Amitabh Bachchan Back as Host'. The Indian Express, July 8, 2010.

Keane, Michael , Fung, Anthony , and Moran, Albert . New Television, Globalisation, and the East Asian Cultural Imagination. Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press, 2007.

Khalil, Joe . 'Blending in: Arab Television and the Search for Programming Ideas'. Transnational Broadcasting Studies 13 (Fall 2004). http://www.tbsjournal.com/Archives/Fall04/khalil.html.

Kumar, Shanti . 'An Indian Personality for Television?' Jump Cut 43 (July 2000): 92–101.

http://www.ejumpcut.org/archive/onlinessays/JC43folder/TVinIndia.html.

Kumar, Shanti . 'Innovation, Imitation, and Hybridity in Indian Television'. In Thinking Outside the Box: A Contemporary Television Genre Reader, ed. Gary R. Edgerton and Brian G. Rose , Lexington, KY: University Press of Kentucky, 2005.

Langer, John . 'Television's Personality System'. Media, Culture and Society 4 (October 1981): 351–365. Mankekar, Purnima . Screening Culture, Viewing Politics: An Ethnography of Television, Womanhood, and Nation in Postcolonial India. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1999.

Mayne, Judith . Cinema and Spectatorship. New York: Routledge, 1993.

Mazumdar, Ranjani . Bombay Cinema: An Archive of the City. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, 2007.

Mazumdar, Ranjani . 'From Subjectification to Schizophrenia: The "Angry Young Man" and the "Psychotic" Hero of Bombay Cinema'. In Making Meaning in Indian Cinema, ed. Ravi S. Vasudevan , 238–266. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2000.

Mazzarella, William . Shoveling Smoke: Advertising and Globalization in Contemporary India. Durham, NC, and London: Duke University Press, 2003.

Mehra, Priyanka . 'Dhoni Effect: Urban Growth Story Spreads to Smaller Cities'. http://Livemint.com. March 20, 2008.

Menezes, Saira . 'Aby Baby Is Now Aby Maybe'. Outlook, January 5, 1998.

Mishra, Vijay . Bollywood Cinema: Temples of Desire. New York: Routledge, 2002.

Moorti, Sujata . 'Fashioning a Cosmopolitan Tamil Identity: Game Shows, Commodities, and Cultural Identity'. Media, Culture & Society 26, no. 4 (2004): 549–567.

Murray, Susan . Hitch Your Antenna to the Stars: Early Television and Broadcast Stardom. New York: Routledge, 2005.

Nandy, Ashis . 'Indian Popular Cinema as a Slum's Eye View of Politics'. In The Secret Politics of Our Desires: Innocence, Culpability and Popular Indian Cinema, ed. Ashis Nandy , 1–19. Delhi and New York: Oxford University Press, New Delhi: 1998.

'Over 5M People Participate in "KBC 4" Auditions'. Times of India, September 10, 2010.

Perry, Alex . 'The Big B: With a Return to TV and a Series of Acclaimed Cinema Roles, Amitabh Bachchan Proves There Can Be Second Acts in Bollywood'. Time, September 26, 2005.

Pinto, Jerry . 'The Trouble with Being Reborn: Oh, to Return Thus! As the Papa of the Nation'. Outlook, October 16, 2006.

Prasad, Madhava M. Ideology of the Hindi Film: A Historical Construction. New Delhi: OUP, 1998. Rajagopal, Arvind . 'Thinking about the New Indian Middle Class: Gender, Advertising and Politics in an Age of Globalisation'. In Signposts: Gender Issues in Post-Independence India. ed. Rajeshwari Sundar Rajan .

57–100. New Delhi: Kali for Women, 1999.

Rajghatta, Chidanand . 'Mother of *Crorepati* Celebrates a Year of Couch Potato Coup'. The Indian Express, August 18, 2000.

Ray, Shantanu Guha. 'Bettor Nationality'. Outlook, December 11, 2000.

Ray, Shantanu Guha and Payal Kapadia. 'Too Many Questions'. Outlook, July 31, 2000.

Saksena, Gopal . Television in India: Changes and Challenges. New Delhi: Vikas Publishing House, 1996. Shah, Gouri . 'He's Back'. http://Livemint.com, July 10, 2010.

Sharma, Ashwani . 'Blood, Sweat and Tears: Amitabh Bachchan, Urban Demi-God'. In You Tarzan: Masculinity, Movies, and Men, ed. Pat Kirkham and Janet Thumim , New York: St. Martin's Press, 1993. Somaaya, Bhawana . Amitabh Bachchan, the Legend. New Delhi: Macmillan India Ltd, 1999.

'Sony Earmarks Rs 120 mn for Marketing KBC4'. http://Indiantelevision.com, September 23, 2010.

Thomas, Usha . '25 Women Who Matter: Anita Kaul Basu'. Interview of Anita Kaul Basu.

http://Indiantelevision.com, Mumbai, July 22, 2006.

Thomas, Amos Owen and Kewal J Kumar. 'Copied from Without and Cloned from Within: India in the Global Television Format Business'. In Television across Asia: Television Industries, Programme Formats and Globalization, ed. Albert Moran and Michael Keane, London and New York: Routledge Curzon, 2004. Vachani, Lalit . 'Bachan-Alias: The Many Faces of a Film Icon'. In Image Journeys: Audio-Visual Media and Cultural Change in India, ed. Christine Brosius and Melissa Butcher , 199–232. New Delhi: Sage Publishers, 1999.

Varma, Pavan K. The Great Indian Middle Class. New York: Viking, 1998.

Virdi, Jyotika . The Cinematic ImagiNation: Indian Popular Films as Social History. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 2003.

Virdi, Jyotika . ' *Deewar/Wall* (1975) – Fact, Fiction, and the Making of a Superstar'. In Global Bollywood, ed. Aswin Punathambekar and Anandam P. Kavoori , 233–239. New York: New York University Press, 2008. Waisbord, Sylvio . 'McTV: Understanding the Global Popularity of TV Formats'. Television and New Media 5, no. 4 (2004): 359–383.

'What the Critics Say: It's Thumbs up from Five out of Six Media-Watchers for Amitabh'. Outlook, July 17, 2000.

## **Beyond television studies**

Adorno, Theodor . In Search of Wagner. London: Verso, 1952 [2005].

Adorno, Theodor . Hegel: Three Studies. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1963 [1993].

The Associated Press . 'Graphic Novel Outlines Raid to Capture bin Laden'. The Guardian, June 24, 2011. http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/feedarticle/9710347.

Bhattacharyya, Gargi . Dangerous Brown Men: Exploiting Sex, Violence and Feminism in the War on Terror. London: Zed Books, 2008.

Brecht, Bertolt . Mother Courage and Her Children. London: Methuen, 1939 [1980].

Dye, Dale , and Julia Dale. Code Word: Geronimo. San Diego, CA: IDW, 2011.

Hutnyk, John . 'NDTV 24 × 7: The Hanging Channel: News Media or Horror Show?'. In Indian Mass Media and the Politics of Change, ed. Somnath Batabyal , Angad Chowdhry , Meenu Gaur , and Matti Pohjonen , 18–41. Delhi: Routledge, 2011.

King, Laura , and John Hutnyk . 'The Eighteenth Brumaire of Gaius Balthar: Colonialism Reimagined in Battlestar Galactica'. In Breaching the Colonial Contract, ed. Arlo Kempf , 237–250. New York: Springer, 2010.

Laprise, JohnPaul . 'White House Computer Adoption and Information Policy'. PhD thesis, Northwestern University, 2009.

Madhava., Prasad M. Ideology of the Hindi Film: A Historical Construction. Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1998.

Mehta, Nalin . India on Television. New Delhi: Harper Collins, 2008.

MSNBC . 'At Least 85 Dead in Norway Youth Camp Attack', July 23, 2011, http://t.co/ScCFovi [text no longer available on site].

MSNBC Staff . 'In Rural Town, Norway Attacker Seemed a City Loner', July 24, 2011, http://t.co/dYRUtgk (accessed August 23, 2012 ).

Rajadhyaksha, Ashish . Indian Cinema in the Time of Celluloid: From Bollywood to the Emergency. New Delhi: Tulika Books, 2009.

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics after Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Public in India. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Sayyid , Siddiq, N. Ali , and V.S. Kalra , eds. A Postcolonial People: South Asians in Britain. London: Hurst and Sharma, 2006.

Sharma, Sanjay , John Hutnyk , and Ash Sharma , eds. Dis-Orienting Rhythms: The Politics of the New Asian Dance Music. London: Zed, 1996.

Sundaram, Ravi . Pirate Modernity: Media Urbanism in Delhi. Delhi: Routledge, 2009. Today's NEWS NJ . 'Osama bin Laden Corpse Photo Is Fake'. http://todaysnewsnj.blogspot.com/2011/05/osama-bin-laden-corpse-photo-is-fake.html. Youtube . 'AC/DC'. http://youtu.be/ctepAW35O9Q. Youtube . 'Manson'. http://youtu.be/bOWmTyrz1RA.

## Mapping India's television landscape: constitutive dimensions and emerging issues

Bansal, Shuchi . 'The Decade in Media'. http://Livemint.com, June 16, 2011,

http://www.livemint.com/2011/01/31225344/The-decade-in-media.html.

Behura, Monica . 'After Bollywood, It's Time for Remakes on the Small Screen'. The Economic Times, January 2, 2011, http://economictimes.indiatimes.com/features/business/after-bollywood-its-time-for-remakes-on-small-screen/articleshow/7203218.cms.

Chadha, Kalyani , and Kavoori Anandam . 'Beyond the Global/Local: Examining Contemporary Media Globalization Trends Across National Contexts'. In Mass Media and Society, 5th ed., ed. James Curran , 210–229. London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2010.

Dasgupta, Mitra . 'Going Native'. The Financial Express, March 30, 2010,

http://www.financialexpress.com/news/going-native/597156/.

Deleuze, Gilles , and Felix Guattari. A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia, Vol. 2. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1987.

Dhar, Aarti . 'NCW Favours Law to Control TV Programmes'. The Hindu, November 19, 2010, http://www.thehindu.com/news/national/article898574.ece.

'Digital TV Growth in India Driven by Rural Market'. Moneylife.come, May 10, 2010, http://www.moneylife.in/article/8/5287.html.

Ernst & Young . 'What's Next for Indian Media and Entertainment. 2009'. Ernst & Young, 2009. FICCI/KPMG . 'Back in the Spotlight'. Indian Media and Entertainment Industry Report 2010. 2010, http://www.kpmg.com/AU/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/Back-in-the-Spotlight-2010.pdf.

Fiske, John . Television Culture. London: Methuen, 1987.

Gitlin, Todd . 'Prime Time Ideology: The Hegemonic Process in Television Entertainment'. In Television: A Critical View, ed. Horace Newcomb . London: Oxford University Press, 1994.

Gupta, Nilanjana . Switching Channels. Ideologies of Television in India. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1998.

Indian Brand Equity Foundation . 'Entertainment'. April 2010,

http://www.ibef.org/download/Entertainment\_060710.pdf.

Indian Brand Equity Foundation . 'Media and Entertainment'. March 2011,

http://www.ibef.org/industry/mediaentertainment.aspx.

Indian Council of Media Research . 'Case Studies: Doordarshan'. http://ICMR.org, 2001,

http://www.icmrindia.org/free%20resources/casestudies/Doordarshan-Business%20Strategy.htm.

'Item Numbers Spicing Up the Small Screen Too'. Mid Day, January 10, 2011, http://www.mid-

day.com/entertainment/2011/jan/100111-item-numbers-small-screen-bollywood.htm.

Kumar, Shanti . Gandhi Meets Primetime. Globalization and Nationalism in Indian Television. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 2006.

Kumar, Shanti . 'An Indian Personality for Television?' Jump Cut, Number 43, July 2000,

http://www.ejumpcut.org/archive/onlinessays/JC43folder/TVinIndia.html.

Magder, Ted . 'The End of TV 101: Reality Programs, Formats and the New Business of Television'. In Reality TV: Remaking Television Culture, eds. Susan Murray and Laurie Ouellette , 141–164. New York: New York University Press, 2008.

Mehra, Priyanka . 'Dhoni Effect: Urban Growth Story Spreads to Smaller Cities'. http://Livemint.com, March 20, 2011, http://www.livemint.com/2008/03/20001026/Dhoni-effect-urban-growth-sto.html.

Mehta, Nalin . India on Television: How Satellite News Channels Changed the Way We Think and Act. New Delhi: HarperCollins, 2008. Ministry of External Affairs. India in Business, 2011,

http://www.indiainbusiness.nic.in/industry-infrastructure/service-sectors/media-entertainment.htm. Mitra, Ananda . Television in India: A Study of the Mahabharata. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, 1993.

Narang, Raksha . 'Growth for *Colors & Sony; Star Plus* and *Zee TV* Lose TRPs'. June 2011, http://www.bestmediainfo.com/2011/06/growth-for-colors-star-plus-and-zee-tv-lose-trps/.

Pinglay, Prachi . 'Bollywood Stars Flock to Receive a TV Reality Cheque'. BBC News, January 19, 2011, http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-south-asia-12133724.

Rajagopal, Arvind . 'The Rise of National Programming: The Case of Indian Television', Media, Culture and Society 15 (1993): 91–111.

Ramachandran, Naman . 'Government Probes Television Ratings System'. Variety, May 13, 2010,

http://www.variety.com/article/VR1118019248?refcatid=19&printerfriendly=true.

Shashidhar, Ajita . 'The Big Race for Regional Space'. Outlook, March 20, 2008,

http://business.outlookindia.com/article.aspx?102166.

Sinha, Ashish . 'TV Channels Bloom Despite Ad Crunch'. Indian Express, February 4, 2011,

http://www.indianexpress.com/news/TV-channels-bloom-despite-ad-crunch/745240/.

'Soni Reaffirms Commitment to Public Broadcasting'. September 15, 2009,

http://specialnewsonline.wordpress.com/2009/09/15/ambika-soni-reaffirms-commitment-to-public-service-broadcasting.

Sonwalkar, Prasun . 'Television in India: Growth Amid a Regulatory Vacuum'. In Television and Public Policy: Change and Continuity in an Era of Global Liberalization, ed. David Ward . New York: Lawrence Erlbaum, 2008.

Srivastava, Amitabh . 'Channels of Profit'. India Today, May 2, 2011,

http://indiatoday.intoday.in/site/story/cable-tv-war-politicians-race-to-own-tv-news-channels-to-woo-voters/1/136012.html

Straubhaar, Joseph . 'Beyond Media Imperialism: Asymmetrical Interdependence and Cultural Proximity'. Critical Studies in Mass Communication 8, no. 1 (1991): 39–59.

TAM India . 'TAM Trends Report'. 2010, http://www.tamindia.com/tamindia/.

Timmons, Heather 'In India, Reality TV Catches on, with Some Qualms'. New York Times, January 9, 2011, http://www.nytimes.com/2011/01/10/business/media/10reality.html.

Williams, Raymond . Television: Technology and Cultural Form. London: Fontana, 1974.

## Television and embodiment: a speculative essay

Clough, Patricia Tineto . 'Introduction'. In The Affective Turn: Theorizing the Social, ed. Patriacia Tineto Clough with Jean Halley , 1–34. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2007.

Doval, Pankaj, and Shauvik Ghosh. The Financial Express, September 10, 2007.

http://www.financialexpress.com/news/ndtv-good-times-walks-into-life-&-style/215381/0 (accessed May 23, 2011 ).

Dudrah, Rajinder . 'Haptic Urban Ethnoscapes: Representation, Diasporic Media and Urban Cultural Landscapes'. Journal of Media Practice 11, no. 1 (2010): 31–45.

Gupta, Akhil , and Purnima Mankekar . 'Intimate Encounters: Immaterial Labor in Call Centers'. Paper presented at annual meetings of the American Anthropological Association, New Orleans and Association for Asian Studies, Hawaii, November 19, 2010.

Hardt, Michael . 'Affective Labor'. Boundary 2 25, no. 2 (1999): 89–100.

Juluri, Vamsee . Becoming a Global Audience. New York: Peter Lang, 2003.

Kumar, Shanti . Gandhi Meets Primetime: Globalization and Nationalism in Indian Television. Campaign, IL: University of Illinois Press, 2005.

Lazzarato, Maurizio . 'Immaterial Labor'. In Radical Thought in Italy: A Potential Politics, ed. Paolo Virno and Michael Hardt . Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1996.

Lutz, Catherine , and Lila Abu-Lughod , eds. Language and the Politics of Emotion. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1990.

Manalansan, , and F. Martin . 'Cooking Up the Senses: A Critical Embodied Approach to the Study of Food and Asian American Television Audiencess'. In Alien Encounters: Popular Culture in Asian America, ed. Mimi Thi Nguyen and Thuy Linh Nguyen , 179–193. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2007.

Mankekar, Purnima . 'Dangerous Desires: Television and Erotics in Late Twentieth-Century India'. The Journal of Asian Studies 63, no. 2 (2004): 403–431.

Mankekar, Purnima . Screening Culture, Viewing Politics: An Ethnography of Television, Womanhood, and Nation in Postcolonial India. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1999.

Marks, Laura U. The Skin of the Film: Intercultural Cinema, Embodiment, and the Senses. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2000.

Massumi, Brian . Parables for the Virtual: Movement, Affect, Sensation. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2002.

Ngai, Sianne . Ugly Feelings. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2005.

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics after Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Public in India. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Roy, Abhijit . 'Live(li)ness and Network Publics in Post-liberalization Indian Popular Films'. Journal of the Moving Image 5, December (2006). www.jmionline.org.

Seigworth, Gregory J., and Melissa Greg. 'An Inventory of Shimmers'. In The Affect Theory Reader, ed. Gregory J. Seigworth and Melissa Greg, 1–28. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2010.

Sobchack, Vivian . Carnal Thoughts: Embodiment and Moving Image Culture. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2004.

Williams, Linda . Screening Sex. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2008.

Williams, Raymond . Marxism and Literature. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1977.

Williams, Raymond . Television: Technology and Cultural Form. New York: Schocken Books, 1974.

## Ravana's airforce: a report on the state of Indian television

Anand, Bharat , and Tarun Khanna . Must Zee TV, Harvard Business School Case No. 9-700-122. Boston: Harvard Business School Publishing, Rev. February 10, 2003.

Bajpai, Shailaja . 'It's a Big Blog World'. The Indian Express, January 22, 2008.

http://www.indianexpress.com/news/its-a-big-blog-world/264028/0 (accessed June 15, 2011 ).

Chakraborty, Sujit . 'Akali Dal Accused of "State Terror" on Cable Ops in Punjab'. August 8, 2007.

http://www.indiantelevision.com/headlines/y2k7/aug/aug105.php (accessed August 9, 2007 ).

EditIndia. 'Zee News "Discovers" Ravana's Body, Traces of Ram, Sita and Hanuman'. January 14, 2008. http://editindia.blogspot.com/2008/01/zee-news-discovers-ravanas-body-traces.html (accessed June 1, 2011).

Exchange 4media News Service . 'Zee News Seeks to Demystify Lord Ram All Over Again'. October 19, 2007. http://www.exchange4media.com/e4m/news/fullstory.asp?section\_id=6&news\_id=28239&tag=23146 (accessed May 30, 2011 ).

Goonatilake, Susantha . 'Introduction: Inventing Archaeology: The Tourist Board's "Ramayana Trail". July 17, 2010. http://www.royalasiaticsociety.lk/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/01-Introduction.pdf (accessed July 1, 2011).

http://Indiantelevision.com. 'IBF Approves Content Code for Non-News Channels'. May 2, 2011. http://www.indiantelevision.com/headlines/y2k11/may/may2.php (accessed May 25, 2011).

http://Indiantelevision.com. 'Industry Needs to Invest in Talent: Uday Shankar'. March 26, 2011.

http://www.indiantelevision.com/headlines/v2k11/mar/mar204.php (accessed March 30, 2011 ).

Joshi, S. R., and B. Trivedi. Mass Media and Cross-Cultural Communication: A Study of Television in India. Report No. SRG-94-041. Ahmedabad: Development and Educational communication Unit, Indiana Space Research Organisation, May 1994.

Jeffrey, Robin . India's Newspaper Revolution: Capitalism, Politics and the Indian-Language Press. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2003.

Mehta, Nalin . India on Television: How Satellite TV Has Changed the Way We Think and Act. New Delhi: Harper Collins, 2008.

Mehta, Nalin , ed., Television in India: Satellites, Politics and Cultural Change. London/New Delhi: Routledge, 2008.

Mehta, Nalin . 'The do-good show'. The Indian Express, May 9, 2012.

http://www.indianexpress.com/news/the-dogood-show/946943/0 (accessed May 1, 2012 ).

Mishra, Mahendra . 'Politicisation of TV News Content in South India'. February 2, 2011.

http://www.indiantelevision.com/special/y2k11/Mahendra\_Mishra\_Yearender.php (accessed February 3, 2011 ).

Ninan, Sevanti . Headlines from the Hindi Heartland: Reinventing the Hindi Public Sphere. New Delhi: Sage, 2007.

Pandey, Kundan . 'Just Watch It!'. The Hindu Metroplus, May 6, 2011. http://www.thehindu.com/life-and-style/metroplus/article1996869.ece (accessed May 8, 2011 ).

PricewaterhouseCoopers . The Indian Entertainment Industry: An Unfolding Opportunity. New Delhi: FICCI, 2008.

PTI . 'Regional Channels Have Changed TV Consumption Pattern'. December 2, 2010.

http://in.news.yahoo.com/world/archive/4694.html (accessed January 5, 2011 ).

Raman, Anuradha . Down for the Count. Outlook, May 12, 2001.

Ranganathan, Maya . 'Television in Tamil Nadu Politics'. Economic and Political Weekly, 41, no. 48 (December 2, 2006).

Registrar General of India . Projected and Actual Population of India, States and Union Territories, 1991. New Delhi: Office of the Registrar General, India, 2001.

Shankar, Uday . 'Nobody Understands How the TV Ratings System Works. It's Totally Opaque'. The Indian Express, April 11, 2010. http://www.indianexpress.com/news/nobody-understands-how-the-tv-ratings-system-works.-its-totally-opaque/603796/ (accessed February 21, 2011).

Sardesai, Rajdeep . 'Prime Time Reservation'. May 29, 2006.

http://www.ibnlive.com/blogs/rajdeepsardesai/1/11708/prime-time-reservation.html (accessed May 30, 2006).

Sarkar, Priyanko . 'Digitisation, Liberalisation Emerge as Keywords at FICCI FRAMES 2011'. Indian Express, March 31 2011. http://www.indianexpress.com/news/Digitisation--liberalisation-emerge-as-keywords-at-FICCI-FRAMES-2011/768835/ (accessed June 1, 2011 ).

Shashidhar, Ajita . 'Star's Leadership Status is Now History'. Outlook Business, December 13, 2008. http://business.outlookindia.com/print.aspx?articleid=2327&editionid=62&catgid=11&subcatgid=9 (accessed June 25, 2011).

Shukla, Archana . 'TV Channels Storm Arena in Kerala's Political Battle'. The Indian Express, May 2, 2011. http://www.indianexpress.com/news/tv-channels-storm-arena-in-keralas-political-battle/784277/0 (accessed May 4, 2011 ).

Singh, Gurbir . 'Cable Bashing at Centrestage'. Business World, March 26, 2011.

http://www.businessworld.in/bw/2011\_03\_25\_CableBashing\_At\_Centre\_Stage.html (accessed June 1, 2011 ).

Sinha, Rahul . 'Tracing Evidence of Lord Ram and His Times', adapted by Deepak Nagpal . November 7, 2008. http://zeenews.india.com/news/zee-exclusive/mil-gaye-ram-part-i\_406053.html (accessed May 30, 2011 ).

Srivastava, Amitabh . 'Cable TV War: Politicians Race to Own TV News Channels to Woo Voters'. India Today, April 22, 2011. http://indiatoday.intoday.in/site/story/cable-tv-war-politicians-race-to-own-tv-news-channels-to-woo-voters/1/136012.html (accessed May 1, 2011).

Tanna, Khushboo . 'Invest in Innovation and Differentiation across the Value Chain'. March 19, 2010. http://www.exchange4media.com/e4m/news/fullstory.asp?section\_id=6&news\_id=37544&tag=2951 (accessed May 15, 2011 ).

Telecom Regulatory Authority of India . 'Consultation Paper on Policy Guidelines for Television Audience Measurement (TAM)/Television Rating Points (TRP)', Consultation Paper No. 7/2008. New Delhi: TRAI, March 28, 2008.

## Watching Barkha Dutt: turning on the news in television studies

Adajania, Nancy . 'The Sand of the Colisuem, the Glare of Television, and the Hope of Emancipation'. In Annual Sarai Reader 2006: Turbulence, ed. Monica Narula , Shuddhabrata Sengupta , Ravi Sundaram , and Jeebesh Bagchi , 364–375. New Delhi: Center for the Study of Developing Societies, 2006. Chopra, Mannika . 'NDTV Seeks Loyal Viewers'. The Hoot, April 21, 2003.

http://www.thehoot.org/web/home/searchdetail.php?sid=745&bg=1 (accessed April 22, 2011 ).

Deheija, Rupa . 'India Journal Special: Did Barkha Dutt Convince Anyone?' The Wall Street Journal,

December 1, 2010. http://blogs.wsj.com/indiarealtime/2010/12/01/india-journal-special-did-barkha-dutt-convince-anyone/ (accessed April 25, 2011 ).

Dutt, Barkha . 'For God's Sake'. The Hindustan Times, June 29, 2007. http://www.hindustantimes.com/For-God-s-sake/Article1-233811.aspx (accessed April 22, 2011 ).

Dutt, Barkha . 'In Reverse Gear'. The Hindustan Times, May 14, 2010. http://www.hindustantimes.com/In-reverse-gear/Article1-543742.aspx (accessed April 25, 2011 ).

Dutt, Barkha . 'On the Record: Mumbai and Media Coverage'. NDTV, December 4, 2008.

http://openspace.org.in/node/815 (accessed August 21, 2012 ).

Dutt, Nirupama . 'Dutt's Way to Blaze a Trail'. The Sunday Tribune, July 11, 2004.

http://www.tribuneindia.com/2004/20040711/spectrum/main1.htm (accessed April 22, 2011 ).

Gaonkar, Dilip Parameshwar , and Elizabeth Povinelli . 'Technologies of Public Forms: Circulation,

Transfiguration, Recognition'. Public Culture 15, no. 3 (2003): 385–397.

Hinds, Hilary , and Jackie Stacey . 'Imaging Feminism, Imaging Femininity: The Bra-Burner, Diana, and the Woman Who Kills'. Feminist Media Studies 1, no. 2 (2001): 153–177.

Jayawardena, Kumari . Feminism and Nationalism in the Third World. London: Zed Books, 1984.

Lee, Benjamin , and Edward Lipuma . 'Cultures of Circulation: The Imaginations of Modernity'. Public Culture 14, no. 1 (2002): 191–213.

Mannathukaren, Nissam . 'Media Terror! Understanding Television and the Media in India in the Context of "26/11". South Asian History and Culture 1, no. 3 (2010): 416–434.

Mehta, Nalin . 'India Talking: Politics, Democracy, and News Television'. In Television in India: Satellites, Politics, and Cultural Change, ed. Nalin Mehta . New York: Routledge, 2008.

Mishra, Pankaj . 'What Ails New India'. Gulf News, December 3, 2010.

http://gulfnews.com/opinions/columnists/what-ails-new-india-1.722073 (accessed April 25, 2011 ). Mitra, Antara . 'New Commercial Media and Media-Terrorism Nexus in Mumbai Attacks'. Asia Europe Journal 7 (2009): 443–447.

Osuri, Goldie . 'Ash-Coloured Whiteness: The Transfiguration of Aishwarya Rai'. South Asian Popular Culture 6, no. 2 (2008): 109–123.

Parameswaran, Radhika . 'Spectacles of Gender and Globalization: Mapping Miss World's Media Event Space in the News'. The Communication Review 7 (2004): 371–406.

Polgreen, Lydia . 'A Journalist in India Ends Up in the Headlines'. The New York Times, December 3, 2010. http://www.nytimes.com/2010/12/04/world/asia/04india.html (accessed April 25, 2011 ).

Rao, Shakuntala . 'Accountability, Democracy, and Globalization: A Study of Broadcast Journalism in India'. Asian Journal of Communication 18, no. 3 (2008): 193–206.

Shepard, Alicia . 'Celebrity Journalists'. American Journalism Review, September 1997.

http://www.ajr.org/Article.asp?id=247 (accessed April 22, 2011).

Thussu, Daya . 'The Murdochization of News: The Case of Star TV in India'. Media, Culture, and Society 29, no. 4 (2007): 593-611.

Thussu, Daya . 'Turning Terrorism into Soap Opera'. British Journalism Review 20, no. 1 (2009): 13–18. Varadarajan, Tunku . 'The Fall of India's Katie Couric'. The Daily Beast, November 30, 2010.

http://www.thedailybeast.com/blogs-and-stories/2010-11-30/barkha-dutt-indias-katie-couric-caught-in-ethics-scandal/ (accessed May 3, 2011 ).

Zelizer, Barbie . 'When Facts, Truth and Reality Are God-Terms: On Journalism's Uneasy Place in Cultural Studies'. Communication and Critical/Cultural Studies 1, (2004): 100–119.

## A reflexive turn in television studies? Conjectures from South Asia

Brunsdon, Charlotte . 'Is Television Studies History?'. Cinema Journal 47, no. 3 (Spring 2008): 127–137. Chakrabarty, Dipesh , 'Postcoloniality and the Artifice of History: Who Speaks for "Indian" Pasts?'. Representations 37 (Winter 1992): 1–26.

Curran, James , and Myung-Jin Park , ed. De-Westernizing Media Studies. London: Routledge, 2000. Greene, Roland Arthur . 'Review of *Death of a Discipline*'. SubStance 35, no. 1 (2006): 154–159. Hutnyk, John . 'Panoramas of Asia and the Electronic Hearth: Michael Palin's Connections'. Journal of the Moving Image 4 (2005): 32–62.

Jameson, Fredric . 'Notes on Globalization as a Philosophical Issue'. In The Cultures of Globalization, ed. Fredric Jameson and Masao Miyoshi , 54–77. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1998.

Kumar, Shanti . 'Is There Anything Called Global Television Studies?'. In Planet TV: A Global Television Reader, ed. Lisa Parks and Shanti Kumar , 135–154. New York: New York University Press, 2003. Marx, Karl . Grundrisse. http://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1857/grundrisse/ch01.htm (accessed March 19, 2012 ).

Miller, Toby . 'Turn Off TV Studies!'. Cinema Journal 45, no. 1 (Fall 2005): 98.

Morris, Meaghan . 'Metamorphoses at Sydney Tower'. New Formations 11 (Summer 1990): 10.

Negri, Antonio . Marx beyond Marx: Lessons on the Grundrisse. London: Autonomedia/Pluto, 1991.

Negt, Oskar . 'Mass Media: Tools of Domination or Instruments of Liberation? Aspects of the Frankfurt School's Communications Analysis'. New German Critique 14 (Spring 1978): 61–80.

Parks, Lisa . 'My Media Studies: Thoughts from Lisa Parks', Television & New Media 10, no. 1 (January 2009): 7–9.

Rajagopal, Arvind . 'Notes on Postcolonial Visual Culture'. BioScope: South Asian Screen Studies 2 (2011): 11–22.

Rajagopal, Arvind . Politics after Television: Hindu Nationalism and the Reshaping of the Public India. London: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Sinclair, John , Elizabeth Jacka, and Stuart Cunningham, eds. New Patterns in Global Television: Peripheral Vision. London: Oxford University Press, 1996.

Spivak, Gayatri . Death of a Discipline. New York: Columbia University Press, 2003.

Thussu, Daya . 'Mapping Global Media Flow and Contra-Flow'. In Media on the Move: Global Flow and Contra-Flow, ed. Daya Kishan Thussu , 10–29. New York: Routledge, 2007.

Uricchio, William . 'Television's Next Generation: Technology/Interface Culture/Flow'. In Television after TV: Essays on a Medium in Transition, ed. Lynn Spiegel and Jan Olssen , 232–261. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2004.

Vasudevan, Ravi , Rosie Thomas , Neepa Majumdar , and Moinak Biswas . 'A Vision for Screen Studies in South Asia'. BioScope: South Asian Screen Studies 1, no. 1 (2010): 5–9. Williams, Raymond . Marxism and Literature. London: Oxford University Press, 1985. Žižek, Slavoj . 'Multiculturalism, or, the Cultural Logic of Multinational Capitalism'. New Left Review I/225 (September–October 1997). http://www.newleftreview.org/?view=1919 (accessed July 7, 2011 ).